OA 10-1-01

**FILED**  
THOMAS D. HALL

JUN 22 2001

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

Case No. SC01-1000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
BY \_\_\_\_\_

Upon Request from the Attorney General  
for an Advisory Opinion as to the  
Validity of an Initiative Petition

**ADVISORY OPINION TO  
THE ATTORNEY GENERAL**

RE: AUTHORIZATION FOR COUNTY VOTERS TO APPROVE OR  
DISAPPROVE SLOT MACHINES WITHIN  
EXISTING PARI-MUTUEL FACILITIES

**INITIAL BRIEF OF NO CASINOS, INC.,  
HUMANE SOCIETY OF THE UNITED STATES, THE FUND  
FOR ANIMALS, THE ARK TRUST, INC., AND AMERICAN  
SOCIETY FOR THE PREVENTION OF CRUELTY TO ANIMALS**

IN OPPOSITION TO THE INITIATIVE

TIMOTHY McLENDON  
Florida Bar No. 0038067

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court upon a request for opinion submitted by the Attorney General on May 18, 2001, in accordance with the provisions of Article IV, Section 10, Florida Constitution, and Section 16.061, Florida Statutes. This Brief is submitted by opponents, No Casinos, Inc., the Humane Society of the United States, the Fund for Animals, the Ark Trust, Inc., and the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, in response to this Court's Order of May 21, 2001, accepting jurisdiction and inviting interested parties to submit briefs, and the Order of June 4, 2001 extending the briefing schedule.

In the letter petitioning for a written opinion as to the validity of the proposed initiative, the Attorney General noted that the chief purpose of the initiative is "to authorize county voters to approve slot machines within existing pari-mutuel facilities and to require the Legislature to license, regulate and tax such machines." *See* Letter of May 18, 2001 from Robert A. Butterworth, Attorney General to Chief Justice Charles T. Wells and Justices of the Court, at 4 [hereinafter "A.G. Letter"]. The Attorney General raised several concerns about the proposed initiative, including:

- Whether a proposed constitutional amendment may exempt itself from an existing constitutional requirement that such an amendment pass by two-

thirds vote, rendering Article XI, Section 7, Florida Constitution, “a nullity.” A.G. Letter, at 4.

- Whether the proposed ballot title and summary are misleading, incomplete and inaccurate because the language does not accurately describe voters’ powers following enactment and does not clearly advise the voters of the extent, timing and type of slot machine operation. A.G. Letter, at 4-5.
- Whether the proposed initiative violates the prohibition against including more than a single subject by “log-rolling” disparate subjects into one initiative. A.G. Letter, at 6-8.

The initiative opponents fully support and agree with the Attorney General’s concerns, and suggest that these points should be sufficient to reject the proposed initiative. The initiative’s flaws, however, go far beyond those identified by the Attorney General. The proposed initiative will have drastic and undisclosed effects by opening Florida to gambling on tribal lands. It performs numerous legislative and executive branch functions, and substantially modifies unidentified provisions of the Florida Constitution. For these reasons, No Casinos, Inc., the Humane Society of the United States, the Ark Trust, the Fund for Animals, Inc., and the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, as interested parties, file this brief opposing this initiative proposal.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

From its first five words, the proposed initiative proposes an enormous and hidden change in Florida law. The proposed "Authorization for County Voters to Approve or Disapprove Slot Machines within Existing Pari-Mutuel Facilities" initiative will substantially affect multiple governmental functions and different parts of the Florida Constitution. It presents multiple undisclosed collateral effects on state government at various levels. The title and summary are not clear and unambiguous, but rather foster confusion and fail to point out the one serious effect of the initiative, the opening of Indian lands to high-stakes gambling by operation of federal law. Rather, the summary falsely assures voters that this drastic result will not happen. Because the initiative includes multiple subjects, and because the title and summary are both false and misleading, this Court should invalidate the proposed initiative.

The proposed initiative clearly deals with more than one subject, in violation of the requirement of Article XI, Section 3. Ostensibly limited to authorizing referenda to allow slot machines in certain pari-mutuel facilities, in reality this initiative performs numerous other functions of Florida government, and inevitably affects multiple parts of the Florida Constitution. On its face, the initiative also mandates numerous additional and distinct legislative actions with



no inherent link to the overall purpose of the amendment. These include mandating the licensing, regulating and taxation of slot machines. More significantly, the amendment requires the appropriation of the taxation of the slot machines solely to certain identified purposes. These constitutionally-mandated appropriations, in turn, must inevitably impact the power of the Governor to veto such appropriations. The initiative proposal further attempts to exempt itself from the 2/3 vote requirement of Article XI, Section 7. Each of these represent different, distinct functions performed by the proposed initiative.

Most significant, however, are the undisclosed, but automatic and foreseeable collateral effects of the proposed initiative. By the operation of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. § 2503 *et seq.*, the immediate effect of adoption of the proposed initiative will be to introduce high stakes gambling onto Indian lands in the State of Florida. This result is not in any way speculative, but is an inevitable result of the operation of federal law, and it is nowhere disclosed to the voters. Rather, the Ballot summary falsely assures voters that this initiative will provide for “slot machines at **existing** pari-mutuel facilities **only**.” [emphasis added] As was the case in *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982), the problem lies “not with what the summary says, but, rather with what it does not say.” For this reason alone, the Ballot Summary and Title are fatally flawed

under Section 101.161, Florida Statutes.

However, there are also other flaws in the Ballot Summary and Title. The reference in the Summary to the exemption from the effect of the 2/3 vote requirement of Article XI, Section 7 is confusing and would likely mislead voters into believing that they will themselves vote again on whether to tax slot machines, and falsely suggests that the 2/3 vote requirement applies to local referenda.

The proposed initiative amendment, "Authorization for County Voters to Approve or Disapprove Slot Machines within Existing Pari-Mutuel Facilities," fails to comply with the provisions of Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution and Section 101.161, Florida Statutes (2000). Because it presents more than one subject to the voters, and because its ballot summary and title are misleading and fail accurately to describe the effect of the initiative, this Court should reject the proposed initiative.

## ARGUMENT

The proposed initiative amendment “Authorization for County Voters to Approve or Disapprove Slot Machines within Existing Pari-Mutuel Facilities” represents the latest in a long stream of casino or gambling-related initiative amendments. *See, e.g., Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let’s Help Florida*, 363 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1978); *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Limited Casinos*, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1994); *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Casino Authorization, Taxation and Regulation*, 656 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1995); *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Florida Locally Approved Gaming*, 656 So. 2d 1259 (Fla. 1995).

This Court “must act with extreme care, caution, and restraint before it removes a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people.” *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982). Yet “where the record shows the constitutional single-subject requirement has been violated or the record establishes that the ballot language would clearly mislead the public concerning material elements of the proposed amendment and its effects on the present constitution,” this Court must exercise its power to protect the Constitution and the people. *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Tax Limitation*, 644 So. 2d 486, 489 (Fla. 1994) [*Tax Limitation I*].

The drafters of the instant "Authorization" initiative have fallen far short of both requirements for a valid initiative amendment. The ballot summary and title are inaccurate and incomplete in contravention of Section 101.161, Florida Statutes, and the amendment itself performs multiple functions of and affects multiple branches and levels of government, violating the single subject requirement of Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution.

More importantly, and not yet addressed to the Court, is the vast and hidden effect that this initiative will have on gambling in Florida. Because federal law dictates automatic granting of high-stakes gambling rights on Indian lands if a State provides similar rights to any person for any purpose, the first and inevitable result of enacting this proposed initiative will be to vastly expand the scope of gambling beyond what is promised by the initiative's text, ballot title or ballot summary. The second and immediate result of enacting this proposed initiative will be to transfer substantial regulatory, enforcement and decision-making power from the State to federal authorities, with no recourse for State officials.

Thus, for both readily apparent and hidden, but no less important reasons, the proposed initiative is fatally flawed and must be rejected.

**I. THE PROPOSED INITIATIVE WILL, BY AUTOMATIC OPERATION OF FEDERAL LAW, PERMIT CLASS III GAMBLING DEVICES THROUGHOUT FLORIDA.**

The proposed initiative's text, ballot title and ballot summary all suggest that this initiative will have only a limited effect, by authorizing only what reasonable voters would consider "slot machines" in a few already-existing locations. For example, the first sentence of the ballot summary twice uses the word "only" to suggest that "slot machines" will appear only in "existing pari-mutuel facilities." Ballot Summary, *supra*, at 2. This suggestion of limitation is incorrect.

In truth, the proponents either do not know or are not disclosing the actual scope of this initiative. Despite its claim that its effect will be limited to particular areas, the actual effect of the proposed initiative is to immediately legalize slot machines (and perhaps an unknown number and type of other gambling devices) throughout many areas of the State. In addition, enactment will instantly transfer substantial regulatory, enforcement and decision-making power from the State to federal authorities, with no recourse for State officials.

Voters may not want such an expansion of gambling in Florida. Other voters may not want gambling enforcement transferred from State to federal authorities. But there is no hint that these will be immediate and inevitable effects

of enactment in the text, ballot title or ballot summary of the proposed initiative. And these effects are certainly not within the limits suggested by the text, ballot title and ballot summary. Voters will be surprised when they find that they have actually voted for something other than what the text, ballot title and ballot summary suggest.

**A. Once Class III Gambling Devices Are Permitted Anywhere In Florida, They Will Be Permitted on Indian Lands.**

The first five words of the proposed initiative are “Slot machines are hereby permitted”. This phraseology tracks federal law’s description of one of the threshold requirements which “inevitably lead[s] to Indian gaming.” *Kansas v. United States*, 249 F.3d 1213, 1223 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (if a tribe has requested Class III gambling in a state which permits such gambling, a finding that a tract of land is “‘Indian lands’ within the meaning of IGRA [Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. 2702 *et seq.*]. . . inevitably lead[s] to Indian gaming on the tract.”). The proposed initiative text, ballot title and ballot summary all claim to limit slot machines to only certain counties, but under federal law, these five words will automatically result in slot machines (and, as shown below, perhaps other Class III gambling devices) appearing on Indian land in Florida. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(1)(B); 25 C.F.R. §§ 291.3, 291.8 (2001) (describing procedure by which U.S. Secretary of Interior can authorize and regulate Class III gambling on Indian

land in any State which permits such gambling anywhere by any person or entity).

In *California v. Cabazon Band of Mission Indians*, 480 U.S. 202 (1987), the U.S. Supreme Court sharply limited the power of States to apply their gambling laws to Indian lands, saying that Congress had to create any effective ability for the States to prevent or regulate Indian gambling. In response, in 1988, Congress enacted the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. §§ 2702 *et seq.* (“IGRA”), which provides a role for the States in regulating Indian gambling.<sup>1</sup> Questions arising under IGRA are hotly litigated. *See, e.g., Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians of Oregon v. United States*, 110 F. 3d 688, 692 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 1027 (1997); *Pueblo of Santa Ana v. Kelly*, 104 F. 3d 1546, 1548 n. 3 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir.), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 807 (1997); *Keweenaw Bay Indian Community v. United States*, 136 F. 3d 469 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) (court rejects tribe’s claim that it did not need to use the IGRA negotiation procedure for its Class III gambling

---

<sup>1</sup>Although the U.S. Supreme Court invalidated a portion of IGRA (which permitted tribes to sue States which did not negotiate gambling compacts) on Eleventh Amendment grounds in *Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida*, 517 U.S. 49 (1996), the remainder of IGRA remains intact. Any “ambiguities in federal laws implicating Indian rights must be resolved in the Indians’ favor.” *Florida v. Seminole Tribe of Florida*, 181 F. 3d 1237, 1242 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999); *United States v. Spokane Tribe of Indians*, 139 F. 3d 1297, 1301 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) (“IGRA . . . remains valid”). The federal Department of the Interior has promulgated rules which permit a tribe confronted with a State’s refusal to be sued on Eleventh Amendment grounds to ask for and receive federal approval for its Class III gambling activities. 25 C.F.R. § 291.3, 291.8 (2001).

devices).

Slot machines are considered “Class III” devices under IGRA – the highest and most restricted category of gambling devices. 25 U.S.C. § 2703. The IGRA permits gambling using Class III devices on Indian lands in any State which, *inter alia*, “permits such gaming for any purpose by any person, organization, or entity?” 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(1)(B). A tribe may ask a State to negotiate a tribal-state “compact” to permit Class III gambling and the State must negotiate with the tribe in “good faith” to enter into such a compact. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3). If the State does not enter into such a compact, the federal government may permit Indian gambling anyway on whatever terms the Secretary of Interior feels are appropriate. 25 C.F.R. §§ 291.3, 291.8 (2001); *Mashantucket Pequot Tribe v. Connecticut*, 913 F.2d 1024, 1030-31 (2d Cir. 1990); *United States v. Spokane Tribe of Indians*, 139 F. 3d at 1301-02 (resort to Secretary of Interior under 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(vii) takes the place of tribal suits barred by Eleventh Amendment). Any “ambiguities in federal laws implicating Indian rights must be resolved in the Indians’ favor.” *Florida v. Seminole Tribe of Florida*, 181 F.3d 1237, 1242 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999).

This is not “premature speculation” about future activities, similar to that discounted by this Court in *In re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General* –



*English – The Official Language of Florida*, 520 So. 2d 11, 13 (Fla. 1988).

Though there may be an intermediate negotiation about the extent of State regulation, gambling is **inevitable** on Indian lands once a State permits any type of Class III gambling. *Kansas v. United States*, 249 F.3d at 1223 (if a tribe has requested Class III gambling in a state which permits such gambling, a finding that a tract of land is “‘Indian lands’ within the meaning of IGRA . . . **inevitably** lead[s] to Indian gaming on the tract.” Emphasis added.).

Even before the proposed amendment permits Class III gambling in Florida, the State’s Indian tribes have begun high-stakes gambling. Indian gambling in Florida is already big business. *Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Times Publishing Co.*, 780 So. 2d at 313 (reporting four Seminole Tribe casinos expected \$497 million in revenue in fiscal year 1997). Florida’s Indian tribes have already made known their desire to operate “Las Vegas style casinos” featuring Class III gambling devices. *Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Times Publishing Co.*, 780 So. 2d at 313. Indeed, in 1996, the State sued the Seminole Tribe, alleging that the Tribe was illegally engaging in Class III gambling, but the case was dismissed on grounds of tribal sovereign immunity. *Florida v. Seminole Tribe of Florida*, 181 F. 3d at 1139.

Thus, there is a vast and hidden, but automatic and inevitable effect of the

proposed initiative. Nowhere does the proposed initiative even hint that Indian gambling will increase as a result of the State's authorization of Class III gambling. In fact, the initiative text, and ballot title and summary all suggest exactly the opposite effect. The title says that slot machines will only be placed "**within** existing pari-mutuel facilities." Proposed Initiative, *supra*, at 2 (Emphasis added.). Paragraph (a) of the proposed initiative text says that "Slot machines are hereby permitted **in those counties . . . and then only within** licensed pari-mutuel facilities. . ." *Id.* (Emphasis added.). The ballot summary says the voters may approve "in their respective counties **only**, slot machines at existing pari-mutuel facilities **only**." *Id.* (Emphasis added.).

Any voter looking at the ballot title or summary, or reading the proposed initiative itself could only believe that any placement of slot machines would be limited to "**only**" those facilities. But the **inevitable** result of permitting slot machines "for any purpose by any person, organization, or entity," 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(1)(B), is to permit slot machines by Indian tribes elsewhere in Florida.

This proposed initiative flies under false colors. It is not limited as stated. It will inevitably and by automatic operation of federal law, have a far broader effect than promised. The text, title and summary leave out critical information, like the proposed measure in *Casino Authorization, Taxation and Regulation*, 656

So. 2d at 468-69. The proposed initiative is fatally flawed in text, title and summary.

**B. The Proposed Initiative Will Lead to Immediate and Sustained Expansion of Gambling in Florida Beyond That Described by the Text, Title and Summary.**

It is not just the geographic impact which is missing or distorted in the text, ballot title and ballot summary of the proposed initiative. Both the definition of “slot machine” and the extent to which permitting “slot machines” also permits the use of other “high-stakes” gambling devices are hotly-litigated subjects, indicating to a near-certainty that voters will not be adequately informed about the effect of this proposal even if they read the text of the measure directly.

Florida law currently prohibits slot machines or similar mechanical games of chance. *See* FLA. STAT. §§ 849.15, 849.16(1). The definition of a “slot machine” is broad and subject to interpretation, and cunning minds are constantly attempting to evade current law by creating new kinds of machines – often converting an otherwise legitimate vending machine into a game of chance. *See, e.g.,* Op. Att’y Gen. Fla. 89-05 (January 27, 1989) (Crane game qualifies as slot machine); Op. Att’y Gen. Fla. 98-07 (February 5, 1998) (long-distance telephone card machine which dispenses sweepstakes ticket is a slot machine). Indian tribes in particular have attempted to expand the limits of permissible gambling devices.

*Florida v. Seminole Tribe of Florida*, 181 F.3d 1237 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999)(tribal immunity bars State suit to stop tribe from operating illegal Class III gambling devices; State's remedy is to seek enforcement by federal officials); *Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Times Publishing Co.*, 780 So. 2d at 313 (describing tribe's attempts to keep video slot machines the U.S. Attorney contends are illegal).

Thus, no one knows what kinds of devices will be permitted under the proposed initiative. The Attorney General advised in his May 18, 2001 letter to the Court that the proposed initiative does not appropriately define "slot machine" so that the State and local governments can know what is being authorized by the proposed initiative. *See* A.G. Letter, at 5. The Attorney General (who, as shown in the previous paragraph, has had to define a slot machine) warns that the "type of gambling devices that would be authorized" is not clear under the proposed initiative. *Id.*

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