OA 10/01/01 FILED THOMAS D. HALL
JUL 17 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY______

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. SC01-1000

ORIGINAL

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

RE: AUTHORIZATION FOR COUNTY VOTERS TO APPROVE OR DISAPPROVE SLOT MACHINES WITHIN EXISTING PARI-MUTUEL FACILITIES

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA HORSEMEN'S BENEVOLENT AND PROTECTIVE ASSOCIATION

AND

THE SOUTH FLORIDA GREYHOUND ASSOCIATION, INC.

(SUPPORTING THE INITIATIVE PETITION)

Peter Antonacci

Florida Bar No. 280690

Lori S. Rowe

Florida Bar No. 0120294

Gray Harris & Robinson, P.A.

Post Office Box 11189

Tallahassee, FL 32302-3189

Telephone: (850) 577-9090

Facsimile: (850) 577-3311

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

II. THE PETITION COMPLIES WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

In his letter to the Court, the Attorney General suggested that the Petition may be violative of the single-subject requirement of Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, because the petition may (1) substantially affect the functions of the Legislature and county governments and (2) improperly "logroll" disparate subjects by directing that tax revenue derived from slot machines be used to enhance programs benefiting senior citizens and education. His concerns are, however, misplaced, as FHBPA and SFGA addressed in their Initial Brief. Initial Br. at 19-23. The reiteration of these concerns, which appear in the opponents'

briefs, is equally misplaced. API Initial Br. at 13-14; No Casinos Initial Br. at 32-39.

In their effort to obstruct voter determination of this gaming initiative, the opponents urge the Court to employ an extremely restricted reading of Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution and an overly expansive interpretation of section 101.161, Florida Statutes, for the ballot title and summary. The restrictions on initiative petitions are, however, both constitutionally and statutorily mandated. Art. XI, Sec. 3, Fla. Const.; §101.161, Fla. Stat. (2000). The Court's authority in reviewing initiative petitions is limited to a determination of whether the ballot title and summary meet the requirements of section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes, and that the petition complies with the single-subject requirement set forth in Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Fish & Wildlife Conservation Comm'n, 705 So. 2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1998). The Court does not have the authority or responsibility to rule on the merits or the wisdom of proposed initiative amendments. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re: Amendment to Bar Government From Treating People Differently, 778 So. 2d 888, 891 (Fla. 2000).

The Petition complies with the single-subject requirement. Like the

<u>Limited Casinos</u> amendment, this proposed amendment concerning approval or

disapproval of slot machines within existing pari-mutuel facilities may have

certain ramifications for this State, but it only deals with one subject and it does not substantially alter or perform multiple functions of government.

A. The Petition Does Not Substantially Affect Any Other Provisions of the Florida Constitution.

This Court has stated that one consideration in evaluating the single-subject requirement is whether other provisions of the Constitution, not identified, are affected by the proposal. This is not a litmus test, but rather one of the factors the Court must consider in its determination of whether the proposal expresses a oneness of purpose. Neither of the opponents has identified any provisions of the Florida Constitution not identified in the Petition that is impacted, other than very tangentially, which occurs with every proposed constitutional amendment.

The opponents also suggest that the proposal is defective because it seeks to exempt itself from the constitutional provision requiring that any proposed amendment that imposes a new tax pass by a two-thirds majority vote. No Casinos Initial Br. at 39-41; API Initial Br. at 12-13. Such an interpretation and holding by this Court would mean that the people's expectation and belief that they had reserved unto themselves their authority to initiate change to the Constitution will have been judicially frustrated. Adams v. Gunter, 238 So. 2d 824, 833-835 (Fla. 1970)(Ervin, J., dissenting). The people's fundamental right to exercise their authority to amend the Constitution when all other avenues and sources for

organic change have been exhausted and failed, will have been effectively and totally eliminated. <u>Id.</u> at 835. This Court should not so hold.

No Casinos asserts that the Petition impacts "numerous other provisions of the Florida Constitution," but provides absolutely no explanation of *how* the Petition impacts those constitutional provisions. No Casinos Br. at 42. In order for the initiative to violate the single-subject requirement, there must be a substantial effect or alteration of another provision of the Florida Constitution.

Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re: Tax Limitation, 644 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1994). This is not the case here.

B. The Petition Does Not Alter or Perform Multiple Governmental Functions.

The Court will consider, as one of the factors in determining oneness of purpose, whether a proposal alters or performs multiple governmental functions. The opponents of the Petition appear to suggest that any proposed amendment that, by interaction, affects or impacts any other existing constitutional provision must fail. This Court has rejected this argument on numerous occasions.

Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re: Term Limits Pledge, 718 So. 2d 798, 802 (Fla. 1998); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Fee on Everglades

Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1128-29 (Fla. 1996); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re: Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1994).

API suggests that the Petition substantially alters or performs the function of the Legislature by "remov[ing] from the Legislature its ability to legalize slot machines" and "alter[ing] the lawmaking function of the Florida Legislature to regulate slot machines and to make appropriations." API Initial Br. at 15-17. No Casinos suggests that the Petition performs the function of the Legislature through "designation of purposes for which the taxes mandated by this initiative must be spent" and the function of the executive branch by limiting "the power of the Governor under Article III, Section 8 to veto appropriations" and impacting the "regulatory and administrative powers of the executive branch." No Casinos Initial Br. at 36-39.

In essence, what the opponents now seek to accomplish is a pronouncement or opinion that any proposal that "affects" multiple branches or levels of government must necessarily "alter" the functions of multiple branches or level of government and is, therefore, defective. Through this suggestion, the opponents ask the Court to reverse its numerous decisions which have expressly pronounced that simply because a proposal "affects" the functions of multiple branches or levels of government, the proposal is not rendered violative of the single-subject requirement. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Florida

Transportation Initiative for Statewide High Speed Monorail, 769 So. 2d 367 (Fla. 2000); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General -- Fee On The Everglades Sugar

Production, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1128 (Fla. 1996). More importantly, the opponents wholly ignore this Court's decisional law relative to other initiative petitions authorizing gaming within Florida. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re:

Florida Locally Approved Gaming, 656 So. 2d 1259 (Fla. 1995); Advisory

Opinion to the Attorney General re: Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1994).

In Florida Locally Approved Gaming, this Court upheld an initiative petition that authorized twenty state-regulated, privately owned casinos in counties with populations of at least 200,000; permitted each county, by a vote of its governing body, to "authorize gaming within its jurisdiction"; and provided for licensure, taxation, and regulation by the Legislature. 656 So. 2d at 1261-62; compare Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1978)(provision requiring that the Legislature apply tax revenues to education and law enforcement properly served to implement the single-subject of casino gambling in Dade and Broward counties). This Court rejected a "legislative encroachment" argument similar to the one posed by the opponents here in Limited Casinos, where the proposed amendment permitted a limited number of casinos in a number of Florida counties and within existing and operating pari-mutuel facilities:

Opponents further argue that the petition encroaches upon the taxation, regulation, and powers of the legislature because of the "legislature shall implement" language contained in the petition. We

find that this language is incidental and reasonably necessary to effectuate the purpose of the proposed amendment and does not violate the single-subject requirement.

Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d at 74.

Under the analysis suggested by the opponents, neither the <u>Limited Casinos</u> nor the <u>Locally Approved Gaming</u> initiative petitions would pass constitutional muster in a single-subject analysis by this Court. Despite the fact that both initiative petitions contained provisions that authorized gaming in Florida and authorized the Legislature to license, regulate and tax such gaming, this Court upheld the petitions. The impact of this Petition on other branches of government is no different than the impact of the prior initiative petitions authorizing gaming approved by this Court.

C. The Proposed Amendment Does Not Constitute Logrolling.

The opponents suggest that the Petition is a form of prohibited "logrolling." API argues that the Petition: (1) includes disparate taxing and spending provisions in a single initiative and (2) includes the disparate subjects of enhancing senior citizen services, classroom construction, education programs, and teachers' salaries and benefits. API Initial Br. at 13-14. No Casinos contends that the following aspects of the Petition constitute impermissible "logrolling": (1) questionable and ancillary impact on Indian gambling and the federal regulation thereof; (2) authorization of gambling; (3) authorization of a new tax;

(4) direction of the appropriation of tax revenues derived from gambling; and (5) exemption from the 2/3 voting requirement under Article XI, Section 7. No Casinos Initial Br. at 31-40. These arguments completely misapprehend the evil for which the logrolling analysis is applied – diverse "subjects" that are bundled together to force the acceptance of unwanted additions to the Constitution as the price of approval for those that the voters desire.

Once again, the opponents wholly ignore this Court's decisional law relative to other initiative petitions authorizing gaming within Florida. In the Limited Casinos and Florida Locally Approved Gaming decisions, this Court upheld the petitions, both of which combined the allegedly "disparate" subjects of taxing and spending. See Limited Casinos, 656 So. 2d at 1261, Florida Locally Approved Gaming, 644 So. 2d at 73. Further, in Floridians Against Casino Takeover, this Court approved a petition that enfolded the so-called "disparate" subjects of education and law enforcement through the appropriation of tax revenues derived from casino gaming to "counties, school districts and municipalities for the support and maintenance of the free public schools and local law enforcement." Floridians Against Casino Takeover, 363 So. 2d at 338. The petition scrutinized by the Court in Floridians Against Casino Takeover, as the Petition here, provided for the authorization of gambling, authorization of a new tax, and the direction of the appropriation of tax revenues derived from gambling. The Court declined to

reject that petition on single-subject grounds. It should similarly decline to do so in this proceeding.

III. THE PETITION SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 101.161(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.

Not surprisingly, the opponents of the Petition raise many of the same title and ballot summary concerns expressed in the Attorney General's letter to the Court. The opponents reiterate the Attorney General's concern that the summary fails to fully inform voters of the extent of casino operations. API Initial Br. at 19-21. This argument was fully addressed in FHBPA and SFGA's Initial Brief. Initial Br. at 16-19.

In addition, API suggests that the ballot summary is misleading in that it fails to inform the voter that (1) there is no way to reverse the vote to permit the operation of slot machines at pari-mutuel facilities and (2) the effect of the amendment will be to limit the power of the Legislature to legalize slot machines. API Br. at 18-20. Further, No Casinos suggests that the ballot title and summary are misleading in that the ballot summary mentions "educational programs" as one of the beneficiaries of revenues derived from the taxation of slot machines, whereas the text mentions "classroom construction, educational programs and teachers' salaries and benefits." No Casinos Br. at 27. Finally, No Casinos argues that the ballot summary may mislead voters into believing that the exemption from

the 2/3 voting requirement applies to the vote over a local referenda governing slot machines rather than a voter over the constitutional amendment authorizing counties to approve or disapprove of slot machines within existing pari-mutuel facilities. No Casinos Br. at 28.

The opponents' criticisms of the ballot tile and summary are, however, inconsistent with the requirements of section 101.161, Florida Statutes. Neither of the opponents seems to fully understand the limits that surround the Court's analysis of the ballot title and summary. The opponents' fundamental misapprehension of the requirements of section 101.161 is evident in their microscopic search for precise definitions, which is not at all appropriate in the determination of whether the ballot title and summary meet the section 101.161 requirement of expressing the "chief purpose" of the proposed amendment.

The criticism by API that the ballot summary fails to disclose that "there is no way to reverse the vote to permit the operation of slot machines at pari-mutuel facilities" is both incorrect and inconsistent with prior case law. First, the voters can reverse the effects of the operation of the amendment through the same process by which the amendment was created, *i.e.*, the voters may propose an initiative petition to ban the operation of slot machines at pari-mutuel facilities. Second, numerous initiative petitions have been upheld that have produced, after placement on the ballot, positive law in the form of a constitutional amendment,

with no express explanation of how the effects of such law may be nullified. The constitutional amendment authorizing the operation of lotteries by the state, for example, contains no express provision for the abolition of the state lottery. See, e.g., Carroll v. Firestone, 497 So. 2d 1204 (Fla. 1986); Art. X, Sec. 15, Fla. Const. (adopted in 1986 and proposed by initiative petition upheld by the Court in Carroll v. Firestone). To suggest that this Petition is misleading for its failure to include a provision for its repeal upon adoption by the voters is simply illogical.

API's argument that the Petition would limit the power of the Legislature to legalize slot machines is both without merit and contrary to this Court's decisional law. The initiative petitions in <u>Limited Casinos</u> and <u>Florida Locally Approved Gaming</u> both provided for casino gaming in Florida, and in <u>Florida Locally Approved Gaming</u>, the initiative expressly provided for the operation of slot machines within those casinos. <u>Limited Casinos</u>, 644 So. 2d at 73; <u>Florida Locally Approved Gaming</u>, 656 So. 2d at 1261. Both petitions "limited" the authority of the Legislature to authorizing gaming or the operation of slot machines. This Court, however, found neither defective.

With regard to the suggestion by No Casinos that the ballot title and summary are misleading in that the ballot summary mentions "educational programs" as one of the beneficiaries of revenues derived from the taxation of slot machines, whereas the text mentions "classroom construction, educational

programs and teachers' salaries and benefits," the Court will recognize, of course, that the opponents have invited the Court to apply an erroneous standard to determine whether the summary is "misleading." Deceptiveness in a ballot title and summary is measured by what is objectively conveyed by the words expressed, not by a subjective prediction of what some readers may perceive the language to mean.

- IV. THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT'S POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FEDERAL INDIAN GAMING REGULATORY ACT IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT, AND IN ANY EVENT DOES NOT RENDER THE PETITION INVALID.
 - A. Any Collateral Impact of the Proposed Amendment on the Operation of the Federal Indian Gaming Regulatory Act is Not Properly Before This Court.

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